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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

For the year ended 30 June 2019

HON ALANNAH MACTIERNAN MLC

MINISTER FOR REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we 
hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of 
the Mid West Development Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2019.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006.

TODD WEST GAVIN TREASURE
CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
18 September 2019 18 September 2019
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CHAIRMAN’S FOREWORD

The Mid West continues to be one of the most 
diversified regional economies in Western Australia, 
with significant mining and agricultural sectors 
supported by a strong SME business and industrial 
contracting services sector.

The Mid West regional economy contributed 
$7.1 billion to Australia’s estimated Gross Regional 
Product in 2016, with mining and agriculture exports 
being the predominant contributors to this result.

The Mid West Development Commission (MWDC) 
continues to engage with a number of new mining 
proponents and ventures, which could lead to 
transformational economic change for our region.

The Mid West boasts a pristine natural environment 
and is one of only five areas in the world that is home 
to both marine and terrestrial biodiversity hotspots.

Geraldton, as the Mid West region’s centre, is also 
recognised as the largest and most liveable city north 
of Perth.

Our natural environment also places the Mid West 
region in a strong position to use its sun, wind 
and other natural resources to produce energy in 
support of new and expanded industry development 
opportunities.

Indeed, access to cost affordable energy and water 
resources are key to underpinning new industry 
development opportunities for regional growth.

There are new industry development prospects 
starting to emerge particularly in the areas of 
tourism, horticulture and aquaculture.

In support of each of these key areas, MWDC 
has adopted a cluster approach to bring industry 
participants together to collaborate with the aim of 
growing the overall traded economy; increasing net 
regional wealth.

The Mid West is also host to the most exciting and 
advanced radio science project on the planet, the 
Square Kilometre Array (SKA).

This amazing project, currently at design stage, is 
envisaged to make landmark discoveries including 
the origins of our Universe.

The MWDC Board undertook a significant strategic 
review commencing late 2018, to identify key focus 
areas and regional priorities moving forward. 

An overall outcome statement was produced:

‘To achieve a stronger Mid West economy by 
focusing on key priorities that drive jobs and growth 
and improve regional quality of living’.

The MWDC Board endorsed a final regional priorities 
list in early 2019, including outcome targets that 
have broad alignment with State Government 
priorities. 

OVERVIEW
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The priority areas include the following:

•	 Abrolhos Islands;

•	 Tourism;

•	 Infrastructure;

•	 Agribusiness;

•	 Industry Development;

•	 Livable and Connected Communities; and

•	 Grants and Governance

The priorities that fall under each of these areas are 
identified as project or advocacy opportunities.

Our aim is to have well developed project proposals 
scoped for potential funding support – private 
or public; projects that will move the Mid West 
regional economic dial forward to grow the region’s 
economy and create opportunities for the future.

At the conclusion of the 2018-19 year, MWDC has 
set its draft 2019-21 Strategic Plan to identify the 
key focus areas for the next three years to bring 
these emerging opportunities into reality.

On behalf of the Board, we look forward to working 
with you to make the Mid West a great place to live, 
work, visit and invest.

Todd West, Chairman

Todd West, Chairman - Mid West Development Commission
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•	 Worked with the former Departments of Agriculture 
and Food, Fisheries, Regional Development 
and the other eight Regional Development 
Commissions to integrate services into the new 
DPIRD.  All Commissions continue to function 
as independent statutory authorities under a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with DPIRD.

•	 Building on the significant work undertaken through 
the Mid West Regional Blueprint and completed 
development strategies, a new MWDC Business 
Plan and Strategic Plan were developed with a 
focus on driving jobs and growth in the Mid West.  
The Business Plan will be used to access DPIRD 
resources to pursue priority initiatives.

•	 Administered Round 1 of the Regional Economic 
Development Scheme (REDS) with eight recipients 
awarded grants to the value of $777,835.  Refer to 
the table at the end of this Report on Operations 
section for details of allocations.

•	 Finalised a business case to establish a Geraldton 
Marine Finfish Nursery, with subsequent 
commitment of $7 million for the facility to be built 
in 2020-21.

•	 Supported proponents to develop the Mid West 
shellfish industry to drive growth of edible oysters at 
the Abrolhos Islands, through the Western Australian 
Shellfish Quality Assurance Program (WASQAP);

•	 Worked with Huon Aquaculture and key stakeholders 
to design and plan land based operations at the 
Abrolhos Islands and Geraldton port.

•	 Commenced a desktop analysis of job numbers 
and production value of industries at the Abrolhos 
Islands to form a baseline from which future 
investment can be measured.

•	 Assisted Mid West Horticultural Growers (Group) to 
secure water pricing arrangements from suppliers 
on a trial basis to achieve ongoing viability. 

•	 Implementation of priorities from previously 
completed development strategies, including 
the Mid West Transport Development Strategy, 
Mid West Digital and Communications Strategy, 
Mid West Tourism Development Strategy and 
Mid West Innovation Agenda.

•	 Supported the hosting of a Mid West Renewable 
Hydrogen Forum, Mid West Water Forum and 
Murchison Innovation Days. 

•	 Participated in the Statewide Local Content 
Initiative, which involved working with Aboriginal 
businesses, creating linkages and awareness of 
the Local Content initiative, providing a single point 
of contact for businesses and government agencies 
on Local Content and providing input into various 
Local Content strategies and policies.

•	 Worked with stakeholders to progress Mid West 
Tourism Development Strategy priorities, namely:

o	 Mid West Coastal Nodes (complete);

o	 Kalbarri Skywalks and National Park 
Infrastructure project (near completion);

o	 Sustainable Development of the Abrolhos 
Islands (underway);

o	 Murchison Geotourism Development 
(underway);

o	 Rangelands Parks (underway);

o	 Kalbarri to Shark Bay 4WD trail (planning);

o	 Astrotourism (planning); and

o	 Pink Lake (planning).

•	 Continued to implement the Commission’s Mid West 
Investment Plan, which to date has provided 
$127.9 million to 37 projects with an estimated 
construction value totaling $221.5 million.

•	 Achieved strong results in the annual client 
perceptions survey, including that 89% of clients 
agree that MWDC makes a positive contribution 
towards economic development in the Mid West.

Todd West, Chairman

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE

Enabling Legislation
The Mid West Development Commission is a State 
Government statutory authority managed by a 
community based Board.  

The Commission functions under the provisions 
of the Regional Development Commissions Act 
(1993) and is one of nine regional development 
commissions in Western Australia.

Responsible Minister
Hon Alannah MacTiernan MLC 
Minister for Regional Development

Organisational Structure

Mission
To have the Mid West region recognised as a 
preferred region in which to live, work, study 
and invest.

Strategic Directions
The Commission’s future direction is set out in its 
Business Plan (June 2018), which aligns with the 
State Government's direction and new Department 
of Primary Industries and Regional Development 
(DPIRD) strategy and organisational structure.

Hon Alannah MacTiernan MLC - Minister for Regional Development
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Organisational Chart
For the year ended 30 June 2019
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Board of the Authority
The Mid West Development Commission is managed 
by a Board of regional representatives comprising 
Local Government, Community and Ministerial 
appointments. 

The following Board members served during 
2017‑18 and comprise the Commission’s current 
Board.  The MWDC Chief Executive Officer is an 
ex‑officio member of the Board.

Board Profiles
Mr Todd West
- Chairperson
Todd is CEO of Glass Co WA, which is WA’s largest 
regional glass processing and manufacturing 
facility and has won multiple local and State 
business awards.  Prior to Glass Co, Todd owned 
and operated Wests Glass, Security and Home 
Improvements before merging the two businesses 
in 2012.  ‘Wests’ has operated in the Mid West 
since 1968 as a family business.  As a dedicated 
local business owner, Todd is passionate about 
developing the vast opportunities that the Mid West 
and adjoining regions have to offer and advocates for 
continued infrastructure investment in the regions.  
His previous roles have included Vice President of 
the Mid West Chamber of Commerce and Industry, 
Executive Board Member of the local Master Builders 
Association and Regional Executive Member for the 
Glass and Window Association of WA.  Todd joined 
the Commission Board in 2014 as a Community 
appointment and was Vice Chairperson during 
2016‑17.  He was appointed Chairperson of the 
Mid West Development Commission Board as a 
Ministerial appointment in 2017.

Ms Lara Dalton
- Vice Chairperson
Lara has spent the majority of her life in Geraldton, 
establishing strong family and community 
connections.  She is an active member of the 
community and a member of many community 
and sporting associations.  Lara has held executive 
roles on several schools and not for profit Boards.  
She was a member of the Governing Body of 
Leaning Tree Community School for eight years and 
the Chair for three.  Lara has a passion for youth 
issues and opportunities and is currently a member 
on the Short Term Accommodation for Youth (STAY) 
Board.  Lara has a strong background in hospitality, 
tourism and training.  Lara established, owned and 
operated the Salt Dish Café from 2009‑14 and is 
currently the Hospitality Lecturer at Central Regional 
College of TAFE.  She coordinates and runs short 
skills sets for the hospitality industry locally, as 
well as in remote and regional centres such as 
Meekatharra and Perenjori.  Lara was a Ministerial 
appointment to the Board in 2017.

Mr Shane Van Styn
Shane has worked as an accountant for the last 
20 years and has been involved in a range of 
small and medium businesses in the hospitality, 
construction, property services and security 
industries.  He was first elected to the City 
of Greater Geraldton Council in 2011 and in 
October 2015 was elected the position of Mayor.  
Shane has served as the Chairperson of the Audit 
Committee of the City since 2011 and in 2016 has 
assumed the role of Chair of Regional Capitals 
Australia.  Shane is a Fellow of CPA Australia, 
holds a degree in Accounting and is a registered 
taxation agent and auditor.  Whilst born in urban 
Perth, Shane long expressed a desire to move to 
the regions, choosing to move to Geraldton in 
1999.  His ascension to the position of Mayor in 
regional WA is the fulfilment of a lifelong passion 
of being dedicated to the service of a regional 
community.  Shane was a Local Government 
appointment to the Commission Board in 2016.



MWDC Annual Report 2018-19 13
Mr Jeffrey Calver
Jeffrey has worked in the health system for over 
20 years.  Originally living in the United Kingdom, 
he relocated to Geraldton four years ago to 
undertake a position within the local health service.  
Jeffrey holds a Master of Science degree in 
Building Services Engineering and is a member of 
the Chartered Institute of Building Service Engineers 
(CIBSE).  He is also a former Chairman of the 
East Anglia Region of the CIBSE.  Jeffrey has a 
keen interest in developing local communities and 
ensuring sustainability, with a focus on improved 
health outcomes for all rural communities of 
the Mid West Region.  Jeffrey was a Community 
appointment to the Commission Board in 2016. 

Cr Karen Chappel
Karen is strongly committed to community and 
local government, being Shire President at Morawa 
since 2009, President of the Northern Country Zone 
of WALGA, State Councillor of WALGA and recently 
was awarded a Life Membership of WALGA.  Karen is 
a Board member of various Boards and Committees 
including the Local Government Advisory Board, 
Rural Financial Counselling Services WA (RFCSWA), 
Primary Production Services and Desert Blue 
Connect.  She has a Diploma in Local Government 
(Elected Member) and is a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors (AICD).  Karen has 
a strong connection to the region, having farmed 
in partnership with Lindsay Chappel south of 
Morawa for the last 25 years.  Karen was a founding 
member of both RFCSWA and NEFF and was a 
Local Government appointment to the Board in 2018.

Cr Carole Minney
Carole is a Community representative on MWDC’s 
Board with support from the Western Australia Centre 
for Rural Health (WACRH) and Midwest Aboriginal 
Organisations Alliance (MAOA).  Carole is a Malgana 
Woman from Shark Bay.  She has been living and 
working in Mount Magnet for eight years and has 
been a strong voice for the Murchison subregion.  
Carole has a strong background in health, education, 
employment, training and Indigenous community 
engagement.  She would like to see more meaningful 
training opportunities developed in the Murchison 
subregion, to support smaller communities and 
assist in the economic development for the whole 
region.  Carole’s tenure on the Commission Board as 
a Community appointment commenced in 2018.

Mr Gavin Treasure
Gavin is Chief Executive Officer of the 
Mid West Development Commission and is a 
member of the Board in this capacity.

Senior Officers
Mr Gavin Treasure  
(Chief Executive Officer)
Gavin joined the Commission in October 2012 after 
eight years as CEO of the Shire of Morawa.  He is 
a certified practising accountant and also holds a 
Master of Business Administration and Master of 
Commerce.
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Administered Legislation 
The Mid West Development Commission also 
administers the following related Acts:

•	 Geraldton Foreshore and Marina Development 
Act 1990

•	 Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial 
Institute Act 1929

•	 Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial 
Institute Enabling Act 1934

•	 Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial 
Institute (Trust Property Disposition) Act 1938

Other Key Legislation Impacting on 
Mid West Development Commission’s 
Activities
In the performance of its functions, the 
Mid West Development Commission complies with 
the following relevant written laws:

•	 Regional Development Commissions Act 1993 

•	 Disability Services Act 1993

•	 Electoral Act 1907

•	 Equal Opportunity Act 1984

•	 Financial Management Act 2006

•	 Freedom of Information Act 1992

•	 Geraldton Foreshore and Marina Development 
Act 1990

•	 Industrial Relations Act 1979

•	 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1983

•	 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

•	 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

•	 Public Sector Management Act 1994

•	 Royalties for Regions Act 2009

•	 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

•	 State Records Act 2000

•	 State Supply Commission Act 1991

•	 Workers Compensation and Rehabilitation 
Act 1981
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Outcome Based Management Framework
Broad government goals are supported at agency 
level by specific outcomes.  Agencies deliver 
services to achieve these outcomes.  The following 
tables illustrate the relationship between the 
Commission’s services and desired outcomes, and 
the government goal they contribute to.

Government Goal Desired Outcome Services

Stronger Focus on the Regions:

Greater focus on service delivery, 
infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve 
the overall quality of life in remote 
and regional areas.

An environment conducive to the 
balanced economic and social 
development of the Mid West region.

1.	 Information and Advice

2.	 Investment Facilitation

3.	 Infrastructure and Services 
Development in the Mid West

Service 1: Information and Advice
To contribute to economic growth and employment 
by developing strategic partnerships between 
government, business and the community, providing 
a central point of coordination and contact, and by 
raising awareness of the Mid West region.

Service 2: Investment Facilitation
To create a business environment within the 
Mid West region that has a diverse economic base 
and is attractive to investors.

Service 3: Infrastructure and Services 
Development in the Mid West
To facilitate the development of infrastructure and 
services based on long term economic development 
strategies, to support communities and businesses 
in the Mid West.

Changes to Outcome Based  
Management Framework
The Commission’s Outcome Based Management 
Framework did not change during 2018-19.

Shared Responsibilities with  
Other Agencies
The Commission did not share any responsibilities 
with other agencies in 2018‑19.
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Kalbarri Skywalk construction (credit: Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions)
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330kV transmission line, Three Springs (credit: Western Power)
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS

The Mid West Development Commission (MWDC) reports 
across three broad service areas to inform stakeholders 
of its work, significant activities and future plans to 
promote the region’s further development; namely:

•	 Information and advice;

•	 Investment facilitation; and

•	 Infrastructure and services development.

Service 1: Information and Advice

MWDC provides a central point of coordination and 
contact for various economic development and 
community stakeholders within and outside the 
Mid West.  The agency works in partnership with all tiers 
of government, business and the community, providing 
information and advice to maximise regional economic 
development and employment opportunities.

The Commission works with stakeholders to raise 
awareness of the Mid West region, its natural 
advantages and opportunities and the challenges limiting 
further development.  MWDC shares its networks and 
knowledge of regional infrastructure (hard and soft) to 
help activate projects and supports a number of current 
and legacy State Government funding schemes 

AGENCY ACTIVITIES

•	 Administered the Royalties for Regions (RfR) 
Mid West Regional Grants Scheme (RGS) and 
Community Chest Fund (CCF), which included 
supporting previous recipients to effectively report 
on and / or acquit their grants.

•	 Administered the Local Projects Local Jobs (LPLJ) 
program, which included supporting previous 
recipients to effectively report on and / or acquit 
their grant.

•	 Administered Round 1 of the Regional Economic 
Development Scheme (REDS) with eight recipients 
awarded grants to the value of $777,835.  Refer to 
the table at the end of this Report on Operations 
section for details of allocations.

•	 Assisted clients with project planning and 
development, and identification and application to 
suitable funding sources.

•	 Provided Mid West major project updates to 
stakeholders and released the March 2019 
Mid West Major Projects Summary to assist 
businesses, industry and government identify 
opportunities from current, planned and proposed 
infrastructure investments in the region.

•	 Collated and provided statistical data to assist 
with planning in response to social, economic, 
employment and industry growth and development 
within the Mid West.

•	 Worked with major industry proponents to 
provide investment concierge services to the 
region, spanning magnetite, resource processing, 
renewable energy, aquaculture, horticulture, 
telecommunications, tourism and other sectors.

•	 Provided updates to stakeholders on WA Energy 
Market reform processes and innovation and 
development on the South West Interconnected 
Network (SWIN).

•	 Provided governance and technical support 
to Geraldton Community Energy (GCE) as it 
progresses from incorporation to securing 
investment and operations.

•	 Continued working with the Murchison Executive 
Group (MEG), which includes the CEOs of 
seven Murchison local governments, to identify 
opportunities for local government collaboration, 
resource sharing and subregional economic 
development e.g. Geotourism.

AGENCY PERFORMANCE
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•	 Work with MEG and the Murchison Country Zone 

of the WA Local Government Association (WALGA) 
(Cue Parliament) to confirm key subregional 
initiatives that align with MWDC and the 
Premier’s current focus e.g. tourism, transport, 
telecommunications and health infrastructure, 
pastoral revitalisation and policy reform.

•	 Supported the North Midlands subregion 
through the Northern Country Zone (NCZ) and 
North Midlands Education and Industry Training 
Alliance (NMEITA).

•	 Coordinated Mid West applications for State 
funding from the Digital Farm Grants program, 
to deliver business-grade broadband services 
to the Grainbelt.  The Shires of Chapman Valley, 
Northampton, Irwin, Mingenew, Three Springs, 
Carnamah, Coorow, Morawa and Perenjori were 
successful in obtaining $1 million, which triggered 
an additional $1.5 million in leverage.

•	 As a member of DPIRD’s Digital Connectivity 
Directorate, worked cooperatively with the 
Commonwealth Department of Communications 
to collectively develop a national approach to 
supporting State broadband backhaul initiatives.

•	 Worked with Regional Telecommunication Project 
staff to determine the sites for Mid West Regional 
Telecommunications Mobile Black Spot Program 
(MBSP) towers, with 18 new towers funded in 
Round 1 and 12 in Round 2.  Round 4 submissions 
have been assessed and recipients will be 
announced in 2019-20.

•	 Assisted the removal of illegal overseas sellers of 
mobile phone repeaters from domestic web hosting 
and e‑commerce platforms.

•	 Supported DPIRD to determine recipients of 
innovation grants to improve on-farm productivity 
through use of new IoT technology.

•	 Coordinated a Rural Telecommunications 
Independent Review Committee report (2018) 
submission on behalf of Mid West local governments.

•	 Created a draft WA State Regional 
Telecommunications Strategy and Action Plan, and 
a State Broadband network design.

•	 Provided input to the WA State Telecommunications 
Infrastructure Audit project.

•	 Continued to lobby Commonwealth 
telecommunications policy to protect 
Universal Service Obligation (USO) delivered 
terrestrial voice services.  Represented WA on 
several National inquiry groups considering options 
to improve the USO.

•	 Working with DPIRD’s digital connectivity 
team, drafted the State Government’s 
submission to the 2018 Joint (Commonwealth) 
Parliamentary Committee Inquiry on the nbn.

•	 Participated in the Statewide Local Content 
Initiative.  Significant achievements included.

o	 Working with Aboriginal businesses to 
promote State Government tenders, including 
sandalwood opportunities for contractors 
working on the vermin proof fence.

o	 Assisting Aboriginal businesses secure 
Regional Aboriginal Local Content Fund (LCF) 
grants and tender writing services;

o	 Promoting registration on Aboriginal business 
directories that promote the capability and 
capacity of business to customers;

o	 Creating linkages and awareness of the 
Local Content initiative with industry 
associations, including the Master Builders 
Association, Mid West Chamber of Commerce 
and Industry (MWCCI), Business Foundations, 
Civil Contractors Federation (CCFWA) and 
RSM Business Local;

o	 Providing a single point of contact for 
businesses and government agencies on 
Local Content, with more than 600 government, 
industry and business contacts made during 
2018-19; and

o	 Providing policy input into the WA Industry 
Participation Strategy (WAIPS), Buy Local Policy, 
Procurement Reform Initiative and Regional 
Sourcing Strategy.
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Major Initiatives for 2019-20

•	 Continue to work with the remaining 21 recipients 
of the Commission’s RGS, CCF and LPLJ funding 
programs to deliver their projects and effectively 
report on and acquit their grants.

•	 Administer and deliver Round 2 of the REDS 
program for the Mid West.  Continue to support 
Round 1 recipients in reporting on and acquitting 
their projects.

•	 Engage new and emerging miners to maximise 
local content in significant resource project 
development, including using Geraldton as a 
destination for FIFO operations and to increase 
business and local recruitment opportunities for 
communities in direct proximity to mine sites.

•	 Continue to support project proponents looking 
to host significant operations in the Mid West 
and provide clear advice to government regarding 
infrastructure required to secure these investments.

•	 Advocate for Mid West communities through the 
consultation phases of the State’s Aviation Strategy 
update, which is led by the Department of Transport.

•	 Continue to work with renewable energy 
proponents and power infrastructure operators to 
ensure that known grid constraints don’t inhibit 
future development opportunities.

•	 Encourage electric vehicle uptake across the region 
by supporting a recharging infrastructure trial in the 
North Midlands.

•	 Work in partnership with key stakeholders to 
develop sustainable tourism at the Abrolhos Islands.

•	 Work with key stakeholders to design and fund 
an upgrade to communications capabilities 
(mobile, Internet, emergency services) at the 
Abrolhos Islands to enable the development of 
tourism, aquaculture and new fisheries initiatives.

•	 Support deployment of the Digital Farm Grant 
initiatives to deliver high-capacity wireless 
broadband Internet to virtually all agricultural areas 
within Northampton, Chapman Valley and the 
North Midlands.

•	 Support deployment of the first “Digital Flying Squad” 
to deliver digital education initiatives to regional and 
remote communities that elevate digital literacy.

•	 Working with WALGA, provide advice and support 
to MEG, Cue Parliament and NCZ, including 
representation at Zone meetings.

•	 Undertake training for local businesses from the 
Regional Content Local Initiative (RCLI) fund.

•	 Actively promote the 2019-20 LCF and 
Regional Aboriginal LCF.

•	 Continue to support Aboriginal contractors 
engaged on the vermin proof fence project, 
including promotion of other State government 
tender opportunities and linking contractors 
with a business assistance programs to improve 
their sustainability.

•	 Actively support maximum local content 
outcomes associated with the introduction of the 
National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) from 
1 July 2019.

•	 Continue to advocate for a “buy local” policy 
framework that encourages and supports the 
inclusion of regional businesses in the State 
government procurement supply chain.
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West Australian Octopus processing facility, Geraldton
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Service 2: Investment Facilitation

The Commission supports the development of new 
industries and the further growth of existing industries, 
so that the region has a diverse economic base that is 
attractive to investors.  MWDC also provides regional 
intelligence about investment opportunities for State 
Government and industry proponents.

AGENCY ACTIVITIES

•	 Continued to support development of a Mid West 
marine aquaculture industry by:

o	 Liaising with industry and DPIRD regarding 
the operations and activation of a Mid West 
Aquaculture Development Zone (MWADZ);

o	 Finalising a business case to establish 
a Geraldton Marine Finfish Nursery, with 
subsequent commitment of $7 million for the 
facility to be built in 2020-21;

o	 Supporting proponents to develop the Mid West 
shellfish industry to drive growth of edible 
oysters at the Abrolhos Islands, through the WA 
Shellfish Quality Assurance Program (WASQAP);

o	 Working with Huon Aquaculture and key 
stakeholders to design and plan land based 
operations at the Abrolhos Islands and 
Geraldton port.

•	 Commenced a desktop analysis of job numbers 
and production value of industries at the 
Abrolhos Islands to form a baseline from which 
future investment can be measured. 

•	 Identify priority interventions for growth of 
the region’s agriculture and food industries, 
with a particular focus on water schemes to 
provide suitable quality water for increased 
horticultural production and the expansion of 
the Geraldton / Bootenal / Walkaway growing 
areas.  An application to National Drought Water 
Infrastructure Fund was developed in conjunction 
with the Department of Primary industries and 
Regional Development (DPIRD).

•	 Provided extensive support to key industry 
clusters and their businesses i.e. tourism and food 
(specifically horticulture and seafood).

Tourism

o	 Mid West Coastal Nodes: completion of the four 
funded sites in Coorow, Irwin, Northampton 
and Dandaragan (Wheatbelt).

o	 The Kalbarri Skywalks and National Park 
Infrastructure project:

	Completion of the Meanarra Hill and 
Z-Bend sites;

	Completion of preconstruction work at the 
West Loop / Skywalks site to streamline 
the delivery of the key Skywalks elements;

	Commencement of works at the 
West Loop site and construction of the two 
cantilevered Skywalk platforms; and

	Engagement and consultation with the 
Nanda People to inform design and 
interpretation at the West Loop site.

o	 Sustainable Development of the 
Abrolhos Islands:

	Worked with DPIRD and the Department 
of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attraction 
(DBCA) to progress State Government 
plans to establish a National Park at the 
Abrolhos Islands, including an initial key 
stakeholder engagement forum; and

	Worked with DBCA and DPIRD to support 
the development of a business case to 
secure an initial $10 million investment 
to activate the National Park and upgrade 
existing infrastructure at the Islands, 
which included regional economic input.

o	 Murchison Geotourism Development:  worked 
with Murchison local governments and other 
stakeholders to confirm sites and develop 
subregional branding for the proposed 
Murchison Geo Region, which explores 
tourism opportunities based on the area’s 
geological, biodiversity (flora and fauna) and 
cultural attributes.
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o	 Rangelands Parks:  worked with DBCA 

on plans to develop a number of disused 
conservation estates in the Mid West and 
Gascoyne for tourism purposes with the 
Karara site activated.

o	 Kalbarri to Shark Bay 4WD trail:  with the Shires 
of Northampton and Shark Bay, continued 
to advocate for a 4WD track along the 
Zuytdorp Cliffs from the Murchison Homestead 
to Tamala Station.

o	 Astrotourism:  worked with Astrotourism 
Western Australia on a tourism trail concept 
through the Wheatbelt, Mid West and Gascoyne 
regions that capitalises on their clear night 
skies and scarcity of light pollution.  The trail 
would culminate with a globally significant 
eclipse in 2023 that will be viewed by tens of 
thousands of tourists in Exmouth.

o	 Pink Lake:  Worked with the Shire of 
Northampton and Traditional Owners to develop 
stage 1 of a masterplan for the Hutt Lagoon.

Horticulture:

o	 Assisted the Mid West Horticultural Growers 
Group (MWHGG) to secure water pricing 
arrangements from suppliers on a trial basis to 
achieve ongoing viability. 

o	 Supported the MWHGG to improve 
collaboration and focus energies on 
priority initiatives to grow the local sector 
e.g. affordable water supply.

o	 Continued a water use efficiency study 
with soil moisture probes installed on key 
producers’ properties.

o	 Facilitated negotiations with the 
Water Corporation, resulting in cost savings of 
around 35% for some growers.

o	 Contributed to a business case using the 
growth aspirations of local growers to inform 
a pre-feasibility study for future water 
supply options.

Aquaculture / Seafood:

o	 Worked with the Mid West Ports Authority (MWPA) 
on its Port Master Planning to enable aquaculture 
developments.

o	 Determined Huon Aquaculture’s berthing and 
daily harvest requirements to support their 
entry in the Mid West market.

o	 Promotion of the Mid West aquaculture 
industry at the WA Shellfish Forum in Albany.

o	 Assisted Western Australian Octopus to 
refurbish cold storage facilities and install 
new blast freezing facilities to grow Octopus 
catch and production in excess of 500 tonnes, 
creating 10-15 new jobs.

o	 Supported Abrolhos Island Oysters and 
Abrolhos Pearl Oysters to undertake 
collaborative production and development 
trials, incorporating WASQAP accreditation.

•	 Supported Growing Greater Geraldton (GGG) 
(formerly Progress Midwest) to:

o	 Develop a Mid West Investment Prospectus to 
highlight regional investment opportunities; and

o	 Lodge a submission advocating for Australian 
Government agency decentralisation and 
proposing Geraldton as an obvious choice in 
WA (focus on Departments of Agriculture and 
Defence, and CSIRO).

•	 Hosted a Mid West Renewable Hydrogen Forum 
in 2018, where the Hon Allanah MacTiernan MLC 
outlined the State’s foundational work to develop a 
renewable hydrogen industry and the work program 
of the WA Renewable Hydrogen Council.

•	 Connected renewable hydrogen proponents 
with key regional stakeholders, providing local 
intelligence inputs and funding advice to support 
project development.

•	 Hosted a Mid West Water Forum in conjunction with 
GHD and key stakeholders.  This brought water 
users, stakeholders and key agencies together 
to examine current water allocations and start 
a conversation about future demand and supply 
options for long term economic development 
(particularly with the increasing need to build 
resilience to climate change).
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•	 Continued MWDC’s 20 year support of Australia’s 

component of the Square Kilometre Array (SKA) 
Stage 1 (jointly hosted with South Africa) by:

o	 Providing input through membership of the 
SKA Regional Stakeholders Group;

o	 Supporting the Shire of Murchison to complete 
the construction of a $5.5 million replacement of 
Ballinyoo Bridge over the Murchison River; and

o	 Working with stakeholders to identify 
and progress a Mid West space economy 
regional benefits package that could leverage 
off the SKA, its infrastructure and people, 
which includes:

	A dedicated SKA interpretive centre at the 
Murchison Settlement, with new visitor 
experiences relating to the SKA, Wajarri 
culture and new tourism opportunities for 
the Shire;

	Sealing the remaining section of the 
Carnarvon-Mullewa Road between 
Mullewa and the Murchison Settlement;

	A high level concept (precinct) plan for the 
Mingenew Space Precinct (MSP);

	Maximising regional involvement and 
benefit from the SKA Engineering Centre 
to be developed in Geraldton; and

	Building ‘smart’ science, research and 
development, technical capabilities and 
business development by leveraging 
off the expertise and activities at the 
SKA and MSP, with key interventions for 
Wajarri people and businesses.

•	 On behalf of the Shire of Murchison, prepared an 
application to the Federal Government’s Building 
Better Regions Fund (BBRF) for $10 million to seal 
the remainder of the Carnarvon Mullewa Road 
and develop an SKA interpretative centre at the 
Murchison Settlement.

•	 Supported the Shire of Murchison and pastoralists 
to navigate challenges associated with the SKA, 
particularly Radio Quiet Zone (RQZ) restrictions.

•	 Continued to support delivery of a Statewide 
broadband backhaul network to provide 
enterprise‑grade broadband services in regional, 
rural and remote areas to enhance global 
competitiveness (“WA SuperNet”), in partnership 
with CBH, ARC Infrastructure, Central Midlands 
Innovations and other stakeholders.

•	 Worked with Huon Aquaculture to achieve digital 
connectivity at the Abrolhos Islands to enable new 
aquaculture initiatives.

•	 Supported the Shire of Murchison to host 
the inaugural Murchison Innovation Days in 
March 2019, which sought to identify and share new 
opportunities for residents and pastoral businesses 
to pursue economic development outcomes.

•	 Administered the Mid West component of the 
Regional New Industries Fund (RNIF), which 
includes funding for region specific initiatives and 
cross regional and Statewide projects that support 
new industries or drive innovation.

•	 Worked with Pollinators to seek leverage funding 
from the Federal Incubator Support program for 
optimum delivery of the Basecamp Ecotourism 
Incubator program (supported through RNIF stage 1).

•	 Supported emerging magnetite mining companies 
and consortia wishing to activate Mid West mining 
tenements for potential export through Geraldton or 
potential new port infrastructure at Oakajee.

•	 Provided support to two film production companies 
either filming or planning to film in the region as 
part of the Western Australian Regional Film Fund 
and Film Liaison Officer role.

•	 Participated in Screenwest training as part of 
the accreditation process to support the Mid West 
becoming a Film Friendly Region.
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Major Initiatives for 2019-20

•	 Develop a Mid West Tourism Action Plan to prioritise 
key product development opportunities to attract 
and retain visitors to the Mid West region, aligned 
to the State Government’s ‘Road Trip State’ initiative 
and Tourism WA’s Two-Year Action Plan.

•	 Continue working with stakeholders to progress 
the sustainable development of the Abrolhos Islands 
for tourism.

•	 Support and facilitate the production of feature 
films, documentaries and TV series’ in the 
Mid West through Regional Outputs and Outcomes 
agreements in partnership with Screenwest.

•	 Establish the Mid West as a Film Friendly Region.

•	 Work with DBCA to identify opportunity to further 
develop the Rangeland Parks in the Mid West and 
Gascoyne for tourism.

•	 Continue working with Traditional Owners, 
the Shires of Northampton and Shark Bay, the 
Gascoyne Development Commission, station 
owners and DBCA to explore the Kalbarri to 
Shark Bay 4WD trail concept.

•	 Finalise the masterplan for the Pink Lake in 
consultation with Traditional Owners, the Shire of 
Northampton and other stakeholders.  Work with 
the Hutt River Traditional Owner working group 
to develop an implementation plan to deliver on 
Geraldton Aboriginal Settlement Agreement (GASA) 
responsibilities for the Pink Lake site.

•	 Continue working with Murchison local governments 
to launch the “Murchison Geo Region, home of 
an Aspiring Geopark”, which seeks to capitalise 
on the growing global interest in geotourism 
(particularly Chinese and European tourists).  
Staged development of a formal Murchison Geopark 
may follow.

•	 Develop a cross regional visitor centre network to 
foster collaborative and region wide projects.

•	 Participate in a Statewide tourism network to foster 
collaboration and high level tourism initiatives.

•	 Work with the Shire of Irwin to acquit a $2.5 million 
RfR investment into a new aged care facility in 
Port Denison.

•	 Work with the City of greater Geraldton (CGG) 
and stakeholders to continue implementation of 
the Geraldton Growth Plan to support economic 
development and deliver jobs e.g. CBD Revitalisation.

•	 Support GGG to focus on:

o	 MWHGG priorities; and

o	 Geraldton Tourism Group initiatives, in 
particular Abrolhos Islands development.

•	 Continue work with the Mid West marine 
aquaculture industry by:

o	 Liaising with local and new Yellow Tail Kingfish 
(YTK) proponents expanding operations to 
commercial scale, and with administrators 
regarding regulatory issues;

o	 Assisting YTK proponents to host potential 
aquaculture investors and articulate the 
Commission’s industry development philosophy;

o	 Advocating State government agencies to 
develop aquaculture in WA with appropriate 
governance and management practices;

o	 Assisting industry to progress the Mid West 
Aquaculture Development Plan and achieve 
full commercialisation;

o	 Ensuring government services to the 
developing aquaculture industry provide the 
required support and the best value; and

o	 Ensuring local industry concerns are 
considered in relation to the planned 
establishment of a MWADZ in the Mid West.

•	 Establish a baseline number of jobs and the value of 
each industry at the Abrolhos Islands.

•	 Work with the MWPA regarding infrastructure 
requirements to accommodate growth of the 
finfish aquaculture industry, aligned to the 
MWPA Masterplan.

•	 Work with DPIRD to develop profitable outcomes 
for Mid West grain and livestock businesses though 
supply and value chain interventions.

•	 Improve the profile of regional food industries by 
establishing a Food Industries Cluster, led by MWCCI 
and supported by MWDC.
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•	 Work with DPIRD, the Department of Water and 

Environment Regulation (DWER) and pastoralists 
to enhance the profitability of pastoralism through 
diversification in the Southern Rangelands.

•	 Continue to promote the region’s renewable energy 
development prospects given the significant 
opportunities for co-location of wind and solar 
assets and the potential to provide cheap renewable 
energy for industry development.

•	 Participate in the WA energy reform process to 
ensure Mid West communities are represented 
and served by the State energy infrastructure and 
regulatory regime.

•	 Facilitate community processes for regional 
fringe of grid communities on the South West 
Interconnected System (SWIS) e.g. Kalbarri 
micro‑grid (expected commissioning in 2019-20).

•	 Work with off-grid communities across the region 
to ensure adequacy of power infrastructure and 
that ageing power generation is upgraded with 
renewable and complementary technologies 
(as appropriate).

•	 Continue to support the GCE Board’s journey to 
incorporation and attraction of investment for local 
distributed energy technology in the community.

•	 Continue to work with DPIRD’s Digital Connectivity 
Directorate to support the formal establishment of 
the WA SuperNet project.

•	 Provide regional economic impact analysis and 
feasibility inputs into key business cases for 
regional investments from State Government.

•	 Work alongside and facilitate Aboriginal leadership 
via the Mid West Aboriginal Organisations Alliance 
and the WA Aboriginal Leadership Program.

•	 As the outputs from the WA Renewable Hydrogen 
Council process emerge, support nascent 
renewable hydrogen proponents to attract funding 
and position the Mid West as a renewable hydrogen 
province, given its strategic advantages.

•	 Continue to capture regional outcomes from the SKA, 
Murchison Radio-astronomy Observatory (MRO) and 
Mingenew Space Precinct (MSP) by:

o	 Finalising an agreed Mid West space economy 
regional benefits plan, which articulates 
priorities and a process for pursuing projects 
that can leverage indirect social and economic 
benefits from the region’s space economy 
assets (including Aboriginal economic 
development opportunities);

o	 Seeking funding for support to activate the 
space economy regional benefits package;

o	 Continue supporting the Shire of Murchison 
and pastoralists with matters relating to the 
SKA, including RQZ challenges; 

o	 Providing local feedback and advice to the 
Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and 
Innovation (JTSI) and through the SKA Regional 
Stakeholders Group on matters as required 
e.g. procurement; and

o	 Working with GGG and MWCCI to ensure local 
businesses are well informed of any potential 
opportunities to supply goods or services to 
radio astronomy projects at the MRO and that 
their capabilities are communicated to the 
project proponents.

•	 Work with Murchison communities and pastoral 
businesses to progress initiatives emanating 
from the Murchison Innovation Days, particularly 
focusing on collaborative technology, water and 
land regeneration initiatives.

•	 Support Pollinators to continue implementing the 
Mid West Innovation Action Agenda, which aims to 
support economic development and jobs by building 
capacity in the local innovation ecosystem.

•	 Support investigations to establish a Mid West 
Innovation and Business Enterprise Hub, through 
potential cohabitation of Pollinators, MWCCI and 
Business Local.

•	 Continue to provide support, advice and facilitation 
to the emerging magnetite mining companies and 
consortia looking to initiate Mid West mine site 
operations and export either through the existing 
Geraldton port or proposed port at Oakajee.
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Big Pigeon, Houtman Abrolhos Islands
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Service 3: Infrastructure and Services 

Development in the Mid West

MWDC works to facilitate further economic development 
through strategic initiatives that support communities 
and businesses in the Mid West.

AGENCY ACTIVITIES

•	 Worked with the former Departments of Agriculture 
and Food, Fisheries, Regional Development and the 
other eight Regional Development Commissions 
to integrate services into the new DPIRD.  
All Commissions continue to function as independent 
statutory authorities under a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with DPIRD.

•	 Continued to implement the Commission’s MWIP.  
To date the MWIP has provided $127.9 million 
(including an additional $2 million approved for the 
Kalbarri Skywalk in 2018-19) to 37 projects with 
an estimated total cost of $218 million.  During 
2018‑19 there were eight previously funded projects 
requiring support through delivery and acquittal.  
No further MWIP funding is available for allocation.

•	 Administered MWIP funding and worked with the 
following proponents on their projects; namely:

o	 Main Roads WA - Dongara to Northampton 
strategic corridor planning study, to provide a 
fit-for-purpose, alternative coastal route for 
heavy vehicle traffic flows through the region;

o	 CGG - Beresford Foreshore coastal protection 
and enhancement project;

o	 Shire of Meekatharra - Landor Road sealing 
between Carnarvon and Meekatharra;

o	 Shire of Northampton - sealing of Binnu West 
and White Cliffs Roads;

o	 Shire of Murchison - replacement of 
Ballinyoo Bridge over the Murchison River and 
sealing of the bridge approaches;

o	 Shire of Yalgoo - development of the Yalgoo 
sports hub;

o	 LandCorp - site investigations, remediation 
and planning for the Batavia Coast Marina 
Stage 2 (BCM2) redevelopment; and

o	 DBCA - Kalbarri skywalks and National Park 
infrastructure project.

•	 Commenced planning for the establishment of 
a high speed vessel jetty at the BCM to support 
Abrolhos Islands tourism and other commercial 
maritime ventures.

•	 Facilitated the Mid West Strategic Infrastructure 
Group (MWSIG), a long-standing subcommittee 
of the MWDC Board.  MWSIG enables ongoing 
infrastructure intelligence sharing between multiple 
stakeholders, builds interagency relationship 
and provides a forum for regional infrastructure 
planning between all tiers of government, business 
and industry.

•	 Worked with Main Roads WA (MRWA), local 
governments, Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science 
and Innovation (JTSI) and Department of Planning, 
Lands and Heritage (DPLH) to facilitate staged 
development of the Oakajee Narngulu Infrastructure 
Corridor (ONIC) to activate regional strategic 
industrial estates.

•	 Continued implementation of the Mid West 
Transport Development Strategy, which identifies 
the priority projects required to optimise the 
region’s existing transport infrastructure.

•	 Facilitated a short series of strategic infrastructure 
planning workshops with key stakeholders such as 
MWPA, MRWA, local governments and MWDC Board 
members to align regional infrastructure priorities.
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•	 With support of the MWSIG, progressed priority 

infrastructure projects by working with:

o	 CGG to renew and extend the main runway 
of the Geraldton Regional Airport and attract 
international carriers to use the expanded 
infrastructure;

o	 Western Power to progress the delivery of the 
Kalbarri Microgrid project;

o	 Water Corporation to implement solutions to the 
Murchison subregion’s water quality issues;

o	 Key stakeholders to investigate a Murchison 
Infrastructure Corridor (‘East-West link’) 
including potentially reestablishing the 
Murchison rail corridor between Mullewa and 
Mount Magnet;

o	 Main Roads WA and other key government 
stakeholders to progress the Dongara 
Northampton Strategic Corridor, identifying 
the upgrades required to allow triple 
road train access;

o	 Main Roads WA to pursue the upgrade of 
the Goldfields Highway from Meekatharra 
to Wiluna, providing strategic connectivity 
between the Goldfields Esperance, Mid West 
and Pilbara;

o	 Department of Transport to develop the 
Revitalising Agricultural Region Freight Plan;

o	 Upgrades to the region’s strategic freight 
routes (including Wubin Mullewa Road); and

o	 MWPA to complete the Mid West Port 
Masterplan, to identify infrastructure 
investment priorities and other key activities 
that contribute to growing trade and the 
regional economy.

•	 Worked with NMEITA and North Midlands 
communities to complete and launch a 10 Year 
Morawa and North Midlands Education and 
Training Plan.  

•	 Worked with stakeholders in land sold as part 
of the Batavia Coast Marina Stage 1 (BCM1) 
redevelopment on issues related to the proposed 
new developments, including a hotel, tavern and 
‘off property’ improvements.

•	 Initiated discussions with AARNet to begin the 
design and creation of a ‘fibre swap’ agreement that 
would permit network redundancy between Mullewa 
and Perth for the Square Kilometre Array (SKA) 
telescope project.

•	 Supported the establishment of new WiFi networks 
in Perenjori and Morawa caravan parks.

•	 Participated in an industry working group to 
investigate and evaluate options for extending 
public telecommunications services to the 
Abrolhos Islands for anticipated tourism growth and 
to help fishermen comply with catch reporting.

•	 Ongoing advocacy with Western Power for initiatives 
to increase power reliability and capacity in the 
Mid West, particularly for fringe of grid communities.

•	 Coordinated a study that reviewed and evaluated 
options for future supply of power to the 
Murchison Settlement.

•	 Worked with a number of potential resource 
processing industry proponents to determine energy 
and infrastructure solutions as project definitions 
were developed.

•	 Advocated to ensure SWIS development plans 
catered for anticipated Mid West project activity to 
remove potential growth constraints.

•	 Tracked the progress of new renewable power 
generation projects on the grid, changes to the 
generation mix, network control services and the 
energy reform process.

Major Initiatives for 2019-20

•	 Continue to support the implementation of the 
new DPIRD, including development of a regional 
operating model that provides suitable resourcing 
in support of delivery of key regional priorities as 
identified in the MWDC Business Plan.

•	 With DPIRD and the WA Regional Development 
Alliance (WARDA), continue to support and 
participate in any ‘cross portfolio’ efforts to assess 
and develop priority regional projects for future 
funding opportunities.

•	 Establish a Pink Lake masterplan to inform 
future infrastructure requirements at the site, 
in partnership with key stakeholders.
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•	 Continue to work with LandCorp and other 

stakeholders to progress the proposed hotel and 
other developments on land sold as part of BCM1 
redevelopment.

•	 Continue to work with BCM2 stakeholders to finalise 
environmental remediation works for the site and 
confirm next stages of development and utilisation.

•	 Continue to support MEITA and North Midlands 
communities with implementation of priority 
interventions from the 10 Year Morawa and 
North Midlands Education and Training Plan, in 
particular the proposed expansion of residential 
student capacity at the Morawa Agricultural College.

•	 Work with the WA Museum to review options to 
enhance the Geraldton Museum and the telling 
of local stories including the SKA, Abrolhos Islands, 
HMAS Sydney II / Kormoran and Wilgie Mia 
ochre mine.

•	 Continue to advocate for cost-effective regional 
upgrades to the SWIS to build the region’s 
competitive energy position to enable economic 
development.

•	 Work with State power network operators on 
initiatives to increase power reliability and capacity 
throughput in the Mid West, including alternative 
and renewable energy solutions.

•	 Track the development of the renewable hydrogen 
industry in WA and work to support potential 
Mid West project developers.

•	 Track innovation and fuel changes to the transport 
industry to ensure regional provisioning keeps pace 
with changes, e.g. electric charging infrastructure.

•	 Develop business cases and key funding supports 
for essential Mid West infrastructure projects as 
funding capacity increases for regional investment.

•	 Work with MWPA as it determines a development 
roadmap following completion of its Port Masterplan.

•	 Continue to advocate for:

o	 Upgrades required to facilitate triple road train 
access to the Carnarvon to Muchea route;

o	 Upgrades of the Geraldton port to support new 
projects seeking to export from the Mid West;

o	 Updates to the business cases for the 
Goldfields Highway and the establishment of 
the road linkage (ONIC) between the Narngulu 
and Oakajee industrial estates;

o	 Planning for a dedicated cruise ship and naval 
vessel terminal at the Geraldton port; and

o	 Analysis of options for an East-West corridor 
to unlock mineral resources in the region’s 
hinterland.

•	 Work with proponents to ensure the proposed 
east / west slurry pipeline between Sandstone 
and Geraldton includes community and wholesale 
service provider access to optical fibre capacity on 
the communications network.

•	 Support the expansion of regional health services to 
extend remote diagnostic capabilities into remote 
communities using high-capacity broadband.

•	 Support MWPA efforts to accommodate new 
industry (particularly aquaculture) through their 
master planning process.

•	 Pursue a new water scheme that will enable 
Mid West horticulture growth.
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Regional Economic Development Scheme (REDS) information session
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Regional Economic Development Scheme (REDS)

The Mid West Development Commission supported 
the following eight projects for funding from the 
State government's Regional Economic Development 
Scheme (REDS) during 2018‑19.

Regional Economic Development Scheme  - funded projects for 2018-19

Organisation Project Name Funding 
(ex GST)

City of Greater Geraldton (CGG) 
(on behalf of CGG and the Shires of 
Irwin, Dandaragan and Coorow)

Mid West Online Events Calendar and Travel Guide $28,400

Lydia Haeusler T/As One L of a Good Feed 
Catering and Events Renovation and Café Fit Out of the Old Church Building $50,000

National Trust of Australia (WA) Enhancing the Historic Victoria Hospital and Convict Gaol Precinct $119,000

Shire of Northampton  
(auspice Northampton Old School 
Community Initiative)

Refurbishment Northampton Old School Buildings $74,935

Illegal Tender Rum Co Pty Ltd Illegal Tender Rum Co Expansion $137,000

Abrolhos Island Oysters Western Australia Rock Oyster Aquaculture Cluster - Mid West $250,000

Dongara Marine Enhanced Manufacturing Capability Through CNC $68,500

WV & LD Barndon  
T/As Chapman Valley Fishing Park WA Upgrade of Tourism Facilities $50,000

8 PROJECTS TOTAL $777,835
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Actual results versus budget targets

Financial Targets

2019

Target (1) 
$000

2019 

Actual 
$000

Variation (2)

 
$000

Total cost of services (expense limit)  
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income) 689 2,707 2,018 (a)

Net cost of services 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income) 689 2,705 2,016

Total equity 
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position) 1,182 2,768 1,586 (b)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows) - (968) (968)

Approved salary expense level 227 260 33

Agreed borrowing limit (where applicable)

Working Cash Targets

2018-19

Agreed limit

2018-19

Target; Actual

Variation

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Budget) 21,800 21,800

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Actuals) 64,743 0 (c) -64,743 (d)

Note:

	 1.  As specified in the Budget Statements. The budget excluded the value of resources provided free of charge by DPIRD.

	 2.  Further explanations are contained in Notes 2.2, 2.3, 3.1, 7.5 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the financial statements.

	 a.  The variation is mainly due to only RDC direct expenses being included in the reported targets whereas the actuals include 		
     $1,291,629 of resources provided Free of Charge by DPIRD.

	 b.  The variation is  due to a lower than expected loss for the period.

Note:

	 c.   The actual operating cash held totals $0.  Specific purpose monies of $.84M were also held by the Commission.

	 d.   The variation of $-60k is due to the Commission expending all available operational funds.
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators

The key effectiveness indicators measure the extent of 
impact of the delivery of services on the achievement 
of desired outcomes.  The key efficiency indicators 
monitor the relationship between the services delivered 
and the resources used to produce the service.

Target Actual Variance

Outcome: An environment conducive to the 
balanced economic and social development of the 
Mid West region

Key Effectiveness Indicators:

•	 Clients agreeing that the Commission 
reduced obstacles to economic growth and 
employment

44% 48% 4%

•	 Clients agreeing that the Commission 
contributed to the development of a new 
business opportunity

62% 63% 1%

•	 Clients agreeing that the Commission 
contributed to more trade activity 32% 31% (1%)

•	 Clients agreeing that the Commission 
contributed to the retention of staff and / or 
expansion of employment opportunities 33% 33% -

Service 1: Information and Advice

Key Efficiency Indicators:

Cost per client visit

Cost per client inquiry

$267
$99

$199
$74

($68)
($25)

Service 2: Investment Facilitation

Key Efficiency Indicator:

Average cost per project $65,000 $52,579 $12,421

Service 3: Infrastructure and Services Development 
in the Mid West

Key Efficiency Indicator:

Average cost per project

 

$58,000

 

$47,778

 

$10,222
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Key Effectiveness Indicators

The Commission’s effectiveness indicators are 
measured through an annual client perceptions survey, 
conducted by independent market research company.  
Surveys were sent to 325 clients that had contact with 
the Commission during 2018-19, with 178 completed 
surveys returned (response rate of 58.4%).

To support the balanced economic and social 
development of the region the Commission works 
to help reduce obstacles to growth; develop new 
business opportunities; increase trade activity; and 
retain staff / expand employment opportunities.  
Accordingly, clients were asked questions regarding 
business development outcomes that were facilitated 
by contact with the Commission.  

Key Efficiency Indicators

Total actual costs for two of the three service areas 
were below target, with the fourth only slightly above.  
This is likely due mainly to DPIRD providing some 
services at no cost.

Digi Farms launch, Chapman Valley

Todd West (MWDC Chair); Hon Alannah MacTiernan MLC; Hon Darren West MLC; Lara Dalton (MWDC Board)
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Bilung Pool, Murchison (Murchison Geo Region, home of an aspiring geopark)
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Morawa District High School
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The Commission’s operations are influenced by major 
current and future opportunities and challenges in the 
region which include the following.

•	 Integration of MWDC activities into the new 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) has created some 
uncertainty to Commission operations.  Formal 
transfer of existing MWDC staff to the new 
structure through Organisational Design Phase 2 
(ODP2) hasn’t yet occurred, which also creates 
uncertainty for staff.

•	 The new Commission Business Plan drives 
MWDC operations with an overt a focus on driving 
jobs and growth in the Mid West.

•	 Four new pillars direct operational priorities in 
the areas of Tourism and the Abrolhos Islands; 
Industry Development and Agribusiness; 
Infrastructure; and Liveable and Connected 
Communities, Grants and Governance.

•	 Delivery of key priorities in the Commission’s 
Business Plan remains reliant on continued 
resource allocation through DPIRD.  An increase 
in resource allocation to enable effective 
delivery of the Business Plan is a priority for the 
Commission and its Board.

•	 The Mid West has a relatively high Aboriginal 
population, which drives the need for initiatives 
that will support Aboriginal employment, 
education and business outcomes.

•	 The Geraldton Aboriginal Settlement Agreement 
(GASA) is in development, the outcome of 
which will be paramount to driving Aboriginal 
socioeconomic initiatives within the GASA 
claimant area.

•	 Around 83% of the region is classified as remote, 
which presents challenges to provide and 
maintain infrastructure and services.

•	 The Mid West economy is heavily reliant on 
primary and resource commodity exports, 
exposing it to market fluctuations and variable 
weather pattern impacts.  Initiatives to diversify 
the region’s economic base in 2018-19 included:

o	 Tourism product development;

o	 Expanding information technology access for 
farms and communities;

o	 Renewable energy and affordable energy 
solutions;

o	 Marine based aquaculture research and 
development support;

o	 Supporting the local Innovation environment;

o	 Water access and pricing for intensive 
horticulture expansion;

o	 Maximising local business outcomes 
from State government and private sector 
expenditure in the region; and

o	 Continued focus on key economic 
infrastructure solutions to support primary 
and resources industries, unlock constrained 
assets and realise new growth opportunities.

•	 Constrained current government funding presents 
challenges to proponents seeking to implement 
new projects. 

•	 The Commission continues to strive for health and 
educational outcomes, rural and remote service 
delivery and the development of thriving local and 
subregional economies and communities.

•	 Through implementation of the Commission’s 
Business Plan, focus remains on identifying key 
‘game changing’ initiatives that deliver the best 
economic development outcomes for the region.

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES  
	 IMPACTING THE AGENCY
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Astrotourism - Wooleen Station, Murchison
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DISCLOSURES AND  
	 LEGAL COMPLIANCE
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Mid West Development Commission - 30 June 2019

2019 2018
Notes $ $

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 2.1 (a) 293,017 272,700
Supplies and services 2.3 1,523,544 1,879,508
Depreciation and amortisation expense 4.1.1, 4.2.1 13,741 70,014
Accommodation expenses 2.3 - 54,391
Grants and subsidies 2.2 663,806 1,608,644
Impairment loss on non-current assets 4.1.1 - 186,504
Other expenses 2.3 213,025 12,957
Total cost of services 2,707,133 4,084,718

Income

Revenue
Other revenue 3.2 2,568 6,000
 2,568 6,000
Total income other than income from State Government 2,568 6,000
NET COST OF SERVICES 2,704,565 4,078,718

Income from State Government
Service Appropriation 3.1 242,000 242,000                
Grants received from Other State Agencies 3.1 172,750 -
Services received free of charge 3.1 1,374,589 1,291,629
Royalties for Regions Fund 3.1 - 2,904,764
Total income from State Government 1,789,339               4,438,393             
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD (915,226)                 359,675                

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation reserve 133,636 (354,545)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 133,636 (354,545)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (781,590)                 5,130                    

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2019
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Mid West Development Commission - 30 June 2019

2019 2018
Notes $ $

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 - 21,250
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.1 766,694 1,713,310
Receivables 5.1 109,490 28,155
Total Current Assets 876,184 1,762,715

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 5.2 153,000 153,000
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 2,029,112 1,897,301
Intangible assets 4.2 - 4,401
Total Non-Current Assets 2,182,112 2,054,702
TOTAL ASSETS 3,058,296 3,817,417

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 5.3 40,158 26,270
Employee related provisions 2.1 (b) 71,740 15,848
Total Current Liabilities 111,898 42,118

Non-Current Liabilities
Amounts due to the Treasurer 5.4 960,000 960,000
Employee related provisions 2.1 - 47,306
Total Non-Current Liabilities 960,000 1,007,306

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,071,898 1,049,424
NET ASSETS 1,986,398 2,767,993

EQUITY
Contributed Equity 8.9 355,946 355,946
Reserves 8.9 1,279,125 1,145,489
Accumulated surplus 8.9 351,327 1,266,556
TOTAL EQUITY 1,986,398 2,767,991

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2019
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Mid West Development Commission - 30 June 2019

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
Notes $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 242,000 242,000
Grants received from Other State Agencies 172,750 -
Royalties for Regions Fund - 2,888,764
Net cash provided by State Government 414,750           3,130,764        

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (286,232)          (794,029)          
Supplies and services (214,936)          (621,651)          
Accommodation - (54,391)            
GST payments on purchases (80)                   (192,982)          
GST payments to taxation authority - (2,863)              
Grants and subsidies (663,806)          (1,608,644)       
Other payments (213,025)          (12,957)            

Receipts
GST receipts on sales 332 1,823
GST receipts from taxation authority 80 272,647
Other receipts 2,568 7,271
Net cash used in operating activities (1,375,098)       (3,005,776)       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets (7,518)              -
Net cash used in investing activities (7,518)              -

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (967,866)          124,988           
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 1,734,560 1,609,572

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 6.1   766,694 1,734,560

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 1. Basis of preparation

The Commission is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate 
parent. The Commission is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash generating 
units.

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in the ‘Overview’ which 
does not form part of these financial statements.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the Commission on 18 
September 2019.

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:

1)     The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)

2)     The Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions or TI)

3)     Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) - Reduced Disclosure Requirements

4)     Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not‑for‑profit entities have been applied.

The Financial Management Act 2006  and the Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions) take precedence over AAS. 
Several AAS are modified by the Instructions to vary application, disclosure format and wording.  Where modification 
is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification 
and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the 
historical cost convention. Certain balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). 
Where this is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values are rounded to 
the nearest dollar.

Judgements and estimates

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. The 
significant judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes 
where amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers
in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be
designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior, to transfer) before such
transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by
owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited
directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal.
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2. Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

Notes 2019 2018
$ $

Employee benefits expenses                                                               2.1(a) 293,017 272,700
Employee benefits provisions                                                              2.1(b) 71,740 63,154
Grants and subsidies                                                                               2.2 663,806 1,608,644
Other expenses                                                                                       2.3 1,736,569 1,946,856

2.1(a) Employee benefits expenses                                                               

2019 2018
$ $

Wages and Salaries 219,271 198,844
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (a) 27,465 27,767
Other related expenses 46,281 46,089
Total employee benefits expenses 293,017 272,700

Mid West Development Commission - 2019

This section provides additional information about how the Commission’s funding is applied and the accounting policies that are
relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the Commission
in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:

(a) Defined contribution plans include West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), 
Government Employees Superannuation Board Schemes (GESBs) and other eligible funds.  

Wages and salaries: Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, 
leave entitlements, termination payments and WorkCover premiums.

Termination benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts an
offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the Commission is
demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility
of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBs, or other superannuation funds. The employer
contribution paid to the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in respect of the GSS is paid back into the
Consolidated Account by the GESB.

GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole‑of‑government reporting. It is
however a defined contribution plan for Commission purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by
the Commission to GESB extinguishes the Commission’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Commission does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future
benefits relating to its employees. The Liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits
attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are
funded by concurrent contributions made by the Commission to the GESB.

The GESB and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with
legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to
commencement and implementation dates.
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2.1(b) Employee benefits provisions                                                              

2019 2018
$ $

Current
Employee benefits provisions
Annual leave (a) 17,982 13,618
Long service leave (b) 50,900 -
Deferred salary scheme (c) 1,919 1,919

70,801 15,537

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d) 939 311
Total current employee benefits provisions 71,740 15,848

Non-current
Employee benefits provisions
Long service leave (b) - 46,254

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d) - 1,052
Total non-current employee benefits provisions - 47,306
Total employee benefits provisions 71,740 63,154

(a) Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period. 

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation to services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date.

(b)  Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the
Commission does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Commission has
an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

The components of the long service leave liabilities are calculated at present value as the Commission does not expect to wholly
settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is measured taking into account the present value of expected future
payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These payments are estimated using
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period
on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(c)  Deferred salary scheme liabilities: Classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave for
services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.
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Mid West Development Commission - 2019

2019 2018
$ $

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 1,363 12,641
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 628 (11,693)
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (1,052) 415
Carrying amount at start of period 939                     1,363                  

2.2 Grants and subsidies                                                                               
2019 2018

$ $
Recurrent
Royalties for Regions Fund 663,806 1,608,644
Total grants and subsidies 663,806 1,608,644

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Commission’s long service leave provision. These include:
  Expected future salary rates
  Discount rates
  Employee retention rates; and
  Expected future payments

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee benefits 
expense.

Transactions in which the Commission provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another party without
receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating or capital in
nature.
Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use.
Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached
regarding their use.

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in 
which they are paid or payable. They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments made in cash to 
individuals, other transfer payments made to public sector agencies, local government, non-government schools, and community 
groups.

(d)  Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-
costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as 
liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other 
expenses, Note 3.3 (apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost))’ and are not included as part of the Commission’s 
‘employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.
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2.3 Other expenses                                                                                       
2019 2018

$ $
Supplies and services
Board Fees 82,741 79,843
Communications 1,285 3,293
Consultants and contractors 7,583 446,042
Consumables 5,804 8,800
Equipment repairs and maintenance 2,478 2,127
Operating leases - vehicles 6,988 9,245
Travel 26,369 32,006
Other 15,707 6,523
Support Services provided by DPIRD(a) 1,374,589 1,291,629
Total supplies and services expenses 1,523,544 1,879,508

Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals - 47,977
Electricity - 4,044
Cleaning - 2,370
Total accommodation expenses - 54,391                

Other expenditures
Audit fees 10,945                1,395
Employment on-costs (424)                   -
Refund of revenue 202,504              11,562                
Total other expenditures 213,025 12,957
Total other expenses 1,736,569 1,946,856

Supplies and services:

Accommodation expenses:

Other:

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any 
materials held for distribution are expensed when the materials are distributed.

Operating lease payments are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset.

Electricity and cleaning costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.

Employee on-cost includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on costs liability associated with 
the recognition of annual and long service leave liabilities is included at Note 2.1(b) Employee benefit provision. Superannuation 
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

Support Services provided by DPIRD (a) to support the Commission's in the fulfilment of its statutory functions and obligations under 
the Regional Development Commission Act 1993.  See note 3.1 Income from State Government.
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3. Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding

Notes 2019 2018
$ $

Income from State Government 3.1 1,789,339 4,438,393
Other Revenue 3.2 2,568 6,000

3.1 Income from State Government
2019 2018

$ $
Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a) 242,000 242,000

242,000 242,000

Grants received from Other State Agencies 172,750 -
172,750 -

Services received free of charge (b)  

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Department of Primary Industry and Regional Development 1,374,589 1,291,629

1,374,589 1,291,629

Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Community Services Account (c) - 2,391,014
Regional & Statewide Initiative (a) - 513,750

- 2,904,764
1,789,339 4,438,393

3.2 Other revenue
2019 2018

$ $

Other revenue 2,568 6,000
2,568 6,000

(a)  Service appropriations, and, Regional and Statewide Initiative received from the Department of Treasury fund the net cost of 
services delivered.  Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component only.  

(b)  Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the assets and/or 
services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated. Contributions of assets or 
services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.  The Commission received support services from 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development.

(c) The Regional Infrastructue and Headworks Account, and, Regional Community Services Accounts are sub-funds within the 
over-arching 'Royalties for Regions Fund'.  The recurrent fund are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas and are 
recognised as revenue when the Commission gains contol on receipt of the funds.   

This section provides additional information about how the Commission obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy notes 
that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income received by the Commission and the relevant 
notes are:
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4. Key assets

Notes 2019 2018
$ $

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 2,029,112 1,897,301
Intangibles 4.2 - 4,401
Total key assets 2,029,112 1,901,702

4.1 Property, plant and equipment

Initial recognition

Subsequent measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no or
nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form
part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Land is independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics)
and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the
reporting period.  

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Commission utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service 
potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the performance of these assets:

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and historical cost for all
other property, plant and equipment. Land is carried at fair value less accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property,
plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land is determined on the basis of current market buying values
determined by reference to recent market transactions.

Assets the Commission utilises for economic benefit or service potential

(a) Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Where an asset measured at 
cost is written-down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  Where a previously 
revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other
comprehensive income.  Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally applies where
land use is restricted. Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar
approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land). 

Land was revalued as at 1 July 2019 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations
were performed during the year ended 30 June 2019 and recognised at 30 June 2019. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was
determined by reference to market values for land: $2,000,000 (2018; $1,866,364). At reporting date, the Commission had agreed
in principle to contribute its land to the Stage Two development of the Batavia Cost Marina to Landcorp. If this occurs the
Commission's associated borrowing from Treasury ($960,000) will be repaid by the project.

Year ended 30 June 2019
Office 

equipment Communications
Computer 
hardware

Furniture fixture 
and fittings Land Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
1 July 2018
Gross carrying amount             15,033                 10,287         26,143                88,384            1,866,364           2,006,211 
Accumulated depreciation            (15,033)                (10,287)        (26,143)               (57,450) -                                 (108,912)
Accumulated impairment loss -                 -                     -             -                     -                    
Carrying amount at start of year -                 -                     -             30,934               1,866,364           1,897,298          
Additions 7,518             -                     -             -                    7,518                 
Impairment losses(a) -                 -                     -             -                    -                     -                    
Revaluation increments/(decrements) -                     -             -                    133,636              133,636             
Depreciation (502)               -                     -             (8,838)                -                     (9,340)                
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 7,016             -                     -             22,096               2,000,000           2,029,112          
Gross carrying amount             22,551                 10,287         26,143                88,384            2,000,000 2,147,365          
Accumulated depreciation (15,535)           (10,287)               (26,143)       (66,288)              -                     (118,252)            
Accumulated impairment loss -                 -                     -             -                    -                     -                    
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4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment

Change for the period
2019 2018

$ $
Depreciation
Office equipment 502 -
Computer hardware - 5,801
Furniture fixture and fittings 8,838 56,623
Total depreciation for the period 9,340 62,424

2019 2018
$ $

Impairment
Furniture fixture and fittings - 186,504
Total impairment for the period - 186,504

Finite useful lives

Asset Useful life: years
Plant and equipment 10 to 15 years
Office equipment 5 years
Software (a) 3 to 5 years

(a)   Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

Impairment

Land which is considered to have an indefinite life, is not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in respect of this asset 
because their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period.

Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an
impairment loss is recognised

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss. 

As at 30 June 2019 there was an impairment to furniture fixure and fittings.  The Commission relocated premises, 
fixtures and fittings that could not be relocated remain at the existing premises.  

All surplus assets at 30 June 2019 have either been classified as assets held for sale or have been written-off.

Please refer to note 4.2.1 for guidance in relation to the impairment assessment that has been performed for intangible assets.

All infrastructure, property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include items under 
operating leases, assets held for sale, land and investment properties.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual 
value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are 
included in the table below:

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, and 
adjustments should be made where appropriate.
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4.2 Intangibles

Initial recognition

Subsequent measurement

4.2.1 Amortisation and impairment

Charge for the period
2019 2018

$ $
Computer software - 2,796
Website costs 4,401 4,794
Total amortisation for the period 4,401 7,590

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the 
date of acquisition.

As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable
amount of regularly revalued specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable
amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more that 
comply with the recognition criteria as per AASB 138.57 (as noted below), are capitalised. 

Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement
through other comprehensive income. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to
verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

Year ended 30 June 2019  Computer  Website Total
 $  $  $ 

2018
Gross carrying amount                32,359                  -             32,359 
Accumulated depreciation              (27,958)                  -           (27,958) 
Accumulated impairment loss
Carrying amount at start of year 4,401                -               4,401           
Additions -               -               
Disposals (written down value)              (17,977) -               (17,977)         
Revaluation increments/(decrements)                13,576 -               13,576         
Amortisation -               
Carrying amount at end of year -                    -               -               
Gross carrying amount 32,359              -               32,359         
Accumulated depreciation (27,958)              -               (27,958)         
Accumulated impairment loss -                    -               -               
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Software (a)

Web site costs 3 to 5 years
(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware

Impairment of intangible assets 

Computer Software

Website costs

5. Other assets and liabilities

Notes 2019 2018
$ $

Receivables 5.1 109,490 28,155
Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 5.2 153,000 153,000
Payables 5.3 40,158 26,270
Amounts due to Treasurer 5.4 960,000 960,000

5.1 Receivables
2019 2018

$ $
Current
GST Receivable 10,353 12,155
Receivables 99,137 16,000
Total current 109,490 28,155

3 to 5 years

As at 30 June 2019 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.

The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the 
reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying 
amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value over its 
estimated useful life. All intangible assets controlled by the Commission have a finite useful life and zero residual value. Estimated 
useful lives are reviewed annually.

The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an indication of impairment is identified.
The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1.

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Commission’s controlled operations and includes other assets
utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations:

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as part of the tangible asset. Software that is not an integral 
part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of 

Website costs are expensed when incurred unless they directly relate to the acquisition or development of an intangible asset. In this 
instance they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a 
website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a 
website that can be reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits.
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5.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
2019 2018

$ $
Current - -
Non-Current 153,000 153,000
Balance at end of period 153,000 153,000

5.3 Payables

2019 2018
$ $

Current
Accrued salaries 783 1,053
Accrued expenses 15,977 13,589
Trade payables 23,398 11,628
Total current 40,158 26,270
Balance at end of period 40,158 26,270

5.4 Amounts due to Treasurer
2019 2018

$ $
Non-Current
Amount due to the Treasurer 960,000 960,000

960,000 960,000

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Commission becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a 
purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It is restricted in that it can only be 
used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

A liability of $5,000,000 relating to capital works at the Geraldton Foreshore and Marina was transferred to the Geraldton Mid West
Development Authority (now the Mid West Development Commission) by the Department of Marine and Harbours on 30 June 1993.
Since that time repayments totalling $4,040,000 have been made to the Consolidated fund thereby reducing the outstanding
indebtedness to $960,000. The loan is interest free and has no set repayment terms. Accordingly it has been carried at face value.
At reporting date, the Commission had agreed in principle to contribute its land to the Stage Two development of the Batavia Cost
Marina to Landcorp.  If this occurs the Commission's associated borrowing from Treasury ($960,000) will be repaid by the project.

The accrued salaries suspense account (See Note 6.1 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually,
from agency appropriations for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to meet the additional cash outflow for employee
salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within
a fortnight of the reporting period end. The Commission considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair
value.
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6. Financing

Notes
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1
Commitments 6.2
Non‑cancellable operating lease commitments 6.2.1
Other expenditure commitments 6.2.2

6.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Note 2019 2018
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 - 21,250
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
 - Batavia Coast Marina Redevelopment 475,534 475,534
 - Gascoyne Murchison Outback Pathways Project 1,435 1,435
 - Midwest Digital Economy Strategy 2,558 2,558
 - Pacific Flora 2004 3,091 3,091
 - Regional and Remote Renewable Energy Power Solutions Community Benefits Fund 85,599 92,846
 - Royalties for Regions Fund 198,477 1,049,287
 - Yellow Tail Kingfish Grow-out Trial # 2 - 88,559
Balance at end of period 766,694 1,734,560

6.2 Commitments
6.2.1 Non‑cancellable operating lease commitments

2019 2018
$ $

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year (a)(b) 26,984 10,452

26,984                10,452                

6.2.2 Other expenditure commitments
2019 2018

$ $

Within 1 year - 938,251              
- 938,251              

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies - operating lease commitments

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the leave term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the 
leased properties. 

Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not 
recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

The Commission has entered into a building lease for office accommodation. This lease relates to a building of a temporary nature
and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, this
lease has been classified as an operating lease.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise
cash on hand.

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cashflows of the Commission.
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7. Financial instruments and Contingencies

Notes
Financial instruments 7.1
Contingent assets 7.2.1
Contingent liabilities 7.2.2

7.1 Financial instruments

2019 2018
$ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 21,250
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 766,694 1,713,310
Loans and receivables(a) 252,137 169,000
Total financial assets 1,018,831 1,903,560

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,000,158 986,270
Total financial liability 1,000,158 986,270

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period
are:

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

7.2.1 Contingent assets

7.2.2 Contingent liabilities

8. Other disclosures

Notes
Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 8.1
Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 8.2
Key management personnel 8.3
Related party transactions 8.4
Related bodies 8.5
Affiliated bodies 8.6
Special purpose accounts 8.7
Remuneration of auditors 8.8
Equity 8.9
Supplementary financial information 8.10
Explanatory statement 8.11

8.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

8.2 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

Classification and measurement

Impairment

The classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 did not have any impact to the Commission. 

The adoption of AASB 9 has fundamentally changed the Commission’s accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by 
replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. AASB 9 requires the 
Commission to recognise an allowance for ECLs for all financial assets not held at fair value through P/L.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are disclosed and, if
quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.

AASB 9 Financial instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: 
classification and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting.

The Commission applied AASB 9 prospectively, with an initial application date of 1 July 2018. Although the adoption of AASB 9 
has resulted in changes in accounting policies, there are no adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
The transition to AASB 9 has therefore no impact on the opening balance of retained earnings.  In accordance with AASB 
9.7.2.15, the Commission has not restated the comparative information which continues to be reported under AASB 139

Under AASB 9, financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
(fair value through OCI) or fair value through profit or loss (fair value through P/L). The classification is based on two criteria: the 
Commission’s business model for managing the assets; and whether the assets’ contractual cash flows represent ‘solely 
payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount outstanding.

The assessment of the Commission’s business model was made as of the date of initial application, 1 July 2018. The 
assessment of whether contractual cash flows on financial assets are solely comprised of principal and interest was made 
based on the facts and circumstances as at the initial recognition of the assets.

The Commission has determined that the application of AASB 9’s impairment requirements at 1 July 2018 results in no 
allowance for impairment.

Mid West Development Commission - 2019

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

There are no contingent liabilities to disclose.

There are no contingent assets to disclose.

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

There were no events occurring after the reporting period date that impact on the financial statements.
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8.3 Key management personnel

Compensation band ($) 2019 2018
0 - 10,000 5 5
10,001 - 20,000 - 1
60,001 - 70,000 1 1
70,001 - 80,000 - -

Compensation of senior officers ($) 2019 2018
250,001 - 260,000 1 -
260,001 - 270,000 - 1
280,001 - 290,000 - -
300,001 - 310,000 - -

2019 2018
$ $

Short term employee benefits 329,778 288,906
Post employment benefits 26,641 27,377
Other long term benefits - 2,611
Total compensation of key management personnel 356,419        318,894            

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of senior officers.

8.4 Related party transactions

Related parties of the agency include:

Material transactions with other related entities

- all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
- all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities; and

- associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements; and
- the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Commission there were no other related party transactions that involved key 
management personnel and/or their close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.

- other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of government consolidated
  financial statements;

The Commission is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. 

The Commisson has determined key management personnel to include the Director General, senior officers of the agency and
the Minister that the agency assists. The Commission does not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and those
disclosures may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances. 

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior officers of the agency for the
reporting period are presented within the following bands:
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8.5 Related bodies

The Mid West Development Commission had no related bodies.

8.6 Affiliated bodies

The Mid West Development Commission has no affiliated bodies.

8.7 Special purpose accounts

The Mid West Development Commission has no special purpose accounts.

8.8 Remuneration of auditors

 2019 2018
$ $

Auditing the accounts, financial statements controls, and key performance indicators 25,000          26,665              

8.9 Equity 2019 2018
$ $

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period 355,946 355,946

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation - -

Total contributions by owners
Balance at end of period 355,946        355,946            

2019 2018
$ $

Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period 1,145,489 1,500,034

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)
Land 133,636        (354,545)           

Balance at end of period 1,279,125 1,145,489

2019 2018
Accumlated surplus/(deficit) $ $
Balance at start of period 1,266,553 906,878
Result for the period (915,226)       359,675
Balance at end of period 351,327 1,266,553

Total Equity at end of period 1,986,398 2,767,988

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:
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8.10 Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-offs
There were no write-offs during the financial year.

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
There were no losses of public money and public and other property during the financial year.

(c) Gift of public property
There was no gift of public property during the financial year.
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Heavy mineral concentrate, Eneabba (credit: Iluka Resources)
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Mid West Development Commission
Annual Estimates 2018/2019

2019/20 S40 SUBMISSION

FOT Budget Budget

2018-19 2018-19 2019-20
$'000s $'000s $'000s

EXPENSES
Employee benefits 343                                      320                                      302                                      
Supplies and services 102                                      168                                      177                                      
Services received free of charge 1,057                                  -                                       1,343                                  
Depreciation and amortisation 14                                        78                                        14                                        
Accommodation -                                       -                                       -                                       
Grants and subsidies 565                                      90                                        -                                       
Other expenses 29                                        33                                        29                                        

TOTAL COST OF SERVICES 2,111                                  689                                      1,865                                  

INCOME
Other revenue -                                       -                                       

TOTAL INCOME -                                       -                                       -                                       

NET COST OF SERVICES 2,111                                  689                                      1,865                                  

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 
Service appropriation 249                                      242                                      249                                      
Income received from other state agencies 173                                      173                                      258                                      
Services received free of charge 1,057                                  -                                       1,343                                  

TOTAL INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 1,479                                  415                                      1,851                                  

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (632)                                    (274)                                    (14)                                       

FOT Budget Budget
2018-19 2018-19 2019-20
$'000s $'000s $'000s

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 21                                        -                                       21                                        
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 547                                      577                                      547                                      
Receivables 22                                        -                                       22                                        

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 153                                      54                                        153                                      
Property, plant and equipment 1,879                                  2,435                                  1,865                                  
Intangible assets -                                       

TOTAL ASSETS 2,623                                  3,066                                  2,609                                  

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 3                                          -                                       3                                          
Provisions 4                                          13                                        4                                          

Non-Current Liabilities
Other non-current 960                                      1,920                                  960                                      
Provisions 47                                        23                                        47                                        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,014                                  1,956                                  1,014                                  

NET ASSETS 1,609                                  1,110                                  1,595                                  

EQUITY
Contributed equity 356                                      356                                      356                                      
Reserves 1,146                                  1,500                                  1,146                                  
Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) 107                                      (746)                                    93                                        

FOT Budget Budget
2018-19 2018-19 2019-20
$'000s $'000s $'000s

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 249                                      242                                      249                                      
Capital appropriation -                                       -                                       -                                       
Income received from other state agencies 173                                      194                                      258                                      

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefits (343)                                    (316)                                    (302)                                    
Supplies and services (102)                                    (120)                                    (177)                                    
Accommodation -                                       -                                       -                                       
Grants and subsidies (565)                                    (90)                                       -                                       
Other payments (29)                                       -                                       (29)                                       

Receipts

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current assets -                                       -                                       -                                       

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held and cash equivalents (619)                                    (90)                                       -                                       

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 1,187                                  667                                      568                                      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 568                                      577                                      568                                      

Statement of Cash Flow

In accordance with Treasurers Instruction 953, the annual estimates for the 2019/2020 year are hereby included in the 2018/2019 Annual Report. 
These estimates do not form part of the 2018/2019 financial statements and are not subject to audit.

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position
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Mid West horticulture, Geraldton
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RELATIONSHIP TO GOVERNMENT GOALS

The Government’s desired outcome from the activities of the Mid West Development Commission is the 
development and promotion of the Mid West region.  The Commission achieves this outcome by providing 
information and advice on regional development activities, providing investment facilitation, and assisting with 
the development of infrastructure and services within the Mid West Region.

Bobby Pepper with MWDC Principal Local Content Advisor, Gary Savill
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1.    Key Effectiveness Indicators

The Commission’s effectiveness indicators are measured through an annual client perceptions survey, conducted 
by an independent market research company.  This information is used to assess the effectiveness of the 
Commission’s contact with businesses and the benefits derived by clients.

Surveys were sent to 325 randomly selected clients that had contact with the Commission in the previous 
12 months.  One hundred and seventy eight (178) completed surveys were received, resulting in a response rate 
of 58.4%.  Based on population homogeneity calculations, the survey results demonstrate an overall sampling 
error within +/- 5% at the 95% confidence level for the overall results for clients of the Commission.

Key effectiveness indicator
Target

2018-19

Actual

2018-19

Variance

2018-19

Commission makes a positive contribution 
towards economic development in the 
Mid West

90.1% 88.7% -1.4%

The customer perceptions survey remains consistent with previous reporting periods whereby 88.7% of clients 
agreed that the Commission makes a positive contribution towards economic development in the Mid West.  
This is against a target of 90.1%. 

The Commission works to develop and support an environment conducive to the balanced economic and social 
development of the Mid West region.  The Commission’s success at this may positively impact on clients in a 
number of ways including helping to reduce obstacles to growth, develop new business opportunities, increase 
trade activity and retain staff / expand employment opportunities.

Accordingly clients were asked a number of questions relating to business development facilitated by their 
contact with the Commission.  Findings are summarised below:

Survey Question
Actual

2015-16

Actual

2016-17

Actual

2017-18

Target

2018-19

Actual

2018-19

Reduced obstacles to growth 44% 47% 45% 44% 48%

Developed new business opportunities 57% 63% 67% 62% 63%

More trade activity 28% 33% 36% 32% 31%

Retention of staff / expansion of 
employment opportunities 30% 34% 37% 33% 33%

Comments

The Commission improved its rating in Reduced obstacles to growth compared to the previous year but 
reduced its rating in the other three surveyed items. 
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2.    Key Efficiency indicators

The following efficiency indicators are based on the total cost for each of the Service areas after excluding 
Grants and Subsidies expense.  The costs for each Service area comprise both direct expenditure and an 
allocation of general costs and overheads.  The total cost of all Services (including Grants and Subsidies 
expense) is reported in the Commission’s Statement of Comprehensive Income as the Total Cost of Services.

2.1    Service 1 – Information and Advice

Service Description

To contribute to economic growth and employment by developing strategic partnerships between government, 
business and the community, providing a central point of coordination and contact and by raising awareness 
of the Mid West region.

Performance Measures
Actual

2016-17

Actual

2017-18

Target

2018-19

Actual

2018-19

Variance

2018-19

Total cost of service (1)  (2) $803,671 $785,937 $783,000 $689,126 $93,874

Client contacts (inquiries) 4,920 3,943 4,000 3,016 984

Cost per client inquiry $82 $100 $100 $74 $26

Client visits 1,215 1,469 1,500 2,335 (835)

Cost per client visit $331 $268 $265 $199 $66

	 Note:

	 1.  Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

2. The target assumed 50% of the Total Cost of Service is allocated to each of Client Visits and Client Contacts when calculating the 
respective unit cost.  However, with the significant increase in client visits and reduction in client contacts.  The FY19 actual ratio was 
adjusted to 32.5% for client contacts and 67.5% for client visits, to correctly allocate the 2018/19 actual Total Cost of Service.

Comments

The actual total cost of service in 2018-19 differs to target mainly due a 10% reduction in the total cost 
of service.  There was a 23% reduction in client contacts and a 59% increase in client visits, which was a 
significant variation from prior periods and the target period resulting in total visits incurring 67.5% of the 
total cost.  Overall the Commission achieved a 25% reduction in the cost per service when compared to 
target and prior year.

The continued increase in client visits reflects the Commission’s higher level of engagement with 
clients throughout the region.  Reasons for the increase correlate with the development of digital and 
transport strategies.
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2.2    Service 2 – Investment Facilitation

Service Description

To create a business environment within the Mid West region that has a diverse economic base and is 
attractive to investors.

Performance Measures
Actual

2016-17

Actual

2017-18

Target

2018-19

Actual

2018-19

Variance 

2018-19

Total cost of Service (1) $1,308,452 $1,018,207 $775,000 $578,366 $196,634

Projects relating to investment facilitation 
undertaken 16 11 12 11 1

Average cost per project $81,778 $92,564 $65,000 $52,579 $12,421

	 Note: 

1. Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

Comments

Total cost of services for 2018-19 was below the target due to significant reduction in total service costs.

2.3	 Service 3 – Infrastructure and Services Development in the Mid West

Service Description

To assist the development of infrastructure and services and long term economic development strategies for the 
Mid West region.

Performance Measures
Actual

2016-17

Actual

2017-18

Target

2018-19

Actual

2018-19

Variances

2018-19

Total cost of Service (1) $691,128 $671,931 $700,000 $573,331 $126,669

Projects undertaken relating to 
Infrastructure and Services development 
in the Mid West

15 11 12 12 0

Average cost per project $46,075 $61,085 $58,000 $47,778 $10,222

Note:

1. Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

Comments

Total cost of service for 2018-19 was below the target, as an amount of $202,504 was returned to Treasury 
in relation to infrastructure services, which was excluded from the calculation.
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Cambawarra Head, Green Head
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
No Ministerial Directives were received during the financial year.

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Pricing policies of services provided

The Commission does not charge for services and this reporting requirement, therefore, does not apply.

Capital works

Capital projects incomplete

The Commission did not have any incomplete capital works projects at the end of 2018-19.

Capital projects complete

The Commission did not complete any capital works projects during 2018-19.

Employment and industrial relations

Staff profile

Due to Machinery of Government changes, the Commission’s employees excluding the Chief Executive 
Officer were transferred to DPIRD effective 1 July 2017.  By way of ‘Resources received free of charge’, the 
Commission was provided with resources to deliver the 2018-19 Business Plan.  Employees transferred to 
DPIRD are included in the DPIRD annual report for 2018-19.  The Commission relocated to government owned 
premises in May 2018.

2018-19 2017-18

Full-time permanent 1.0 1.0

Full-time contract 0 0

Part-time measured on an FTE basis 0 0

On secondment 0 0

1.0 1.0
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Staff development

The Commission has a commitment to the development of its employees.  Our strategy is to build a highly 
skilled and professional workforce and as a result we are building a strong and capable team with the ability 
to adapt to the growth and diversity being experienced in the Mid West.  Various industry specific training 
and professional development was undertaken as opportunity arose.

Workers compensation

No workers compensation claims have been made within the Commission during 2018-19.

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

Contracts with senior officers

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior officers, or firms 
of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have substantial interests, had any 
interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Commission and senior officers.

Unauthorised use of credit cards
Following Machinery of Government Changes, only the Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Assistant 
to the Chief Executive Officer of the Commission hold corporate credit cards where their functions warrant 
usage of this facility.  During 2018-19 there were no instances of inadvertent corporate credit card 
utilisation for purchases of a private nature.

2018-19 
$

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the reporting period -

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the due date (within 5 working days) -

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after the period (after 5 working days) -

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at balance date -
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE REMUNERATION
In compliance with Premier's Circular 2010/02 – State Government Boards and Committees, the Commission 
provided the following remuneration to its Board members during 2018-19.

Position Name Type of 
remuneration Period of membership

Gross / actual 
remuneration  

2018-19 financial year

Chair Mr Todd West Fee / superannuation 1 July 2018 - 30 June 2019 $68,850

Member Ms Lara Dalton Fee / superannuation 1 July 2018 -  30 June 2019 $7,904

Member Cr Karen Chappel Fee / superannuation 16 July 2018 - 30 June 2019 $7,472

Member Cr Kirrilee Warr Fee / superannuation 1 July 2018 - 30 November 2018 $5,646

Member Cr Shane Van Styn Fee / superannuation 1 July 2018 - 30 June 2019 $5,171

Member Cr Carol Minney Fee / superannuation 16 July 2018 - 30 June 2019 $1,960

Total $97,003

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of 
members of the accountable authority.

OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

Expenditure on advertising, market research, polling and direct mail

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Commission incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.

Total expenditure for 2018-19 was $11,738.

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Class of expenditure Organisation Total expenditure 
2018-19 (inc GST)

Advertising agencies $7,525 The West Australian Newspapers $7,525

Market research agencies $4,213 Perth Market Research $4,213

Polling organisations Nil Nil

Direct mailing organisations Nil Nil
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Disability access and inclusion plan outcomes
In 2007 the Commission, in consultation with the Disability Services Commission and the public, developed 
and submitted a Disability Action and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) in compliance with the 2004 amendment to the 
Disability Services Act 1993.  It should also be noted that DPIRD have developed their DAIP for the period 
2018-2023, which covers the entire Department, including the Regional Development Commissions.

The existing MWDC 2017-21 DAIP was successfully implemented and the following principles have been 
followed during 2018-19 to continue to address the seven desired DAIP outcomes:

1.	 People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, and any 
events organised by the Commission.

(i)	 Assessment of all Commission events as to their accessibility by all people.

(ii)	 Amended all grant agreements and contacts to include reference to the Commission’s DAIP.

(iii)	 Reviewed and modified policies to include relevant strategies under the DAIP.

2.	 People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings and other 
facilities of the Commission.

(i)	 Increased staff awareness of issues of accessibility.

3.	 People with disabilities receive information from the Commission in a format that will enable them to 
access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.

(i)	 Provision of all communications in clear and concise language, avoiding jargon.

4.	 People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of the Commission as 
other people receive from the Commission.

(i)	 Disability Services Commission information circulated to staff when issued and employee / Board 
member inductions cover awareness of MWDC DAIP.

5.	 People with disabilities have the same opportunities to make complaints to the Commission.

(i)	 Alternative formats provided wherever the Commission’s grievance procedures are displayed.

6.	 People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public 
consultation by the Commission.

(i)	 All venues assessed for accessibility when arranging public consultation events.

(ii)	 Consideration to be made whether any target groups would benefit from public consultation to 
encourage participation.

(iii)	 Ongoing assessment of accessibility of venues when arranging public consultation events.

7.	 Employment – People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain 
employment with a public sector.

(i)	 Vacancy advertisements now include a statement that MWDC is an equal opportunity employer.

(ii)	 Special needs of new employees are identified and any adjustments will be made to the workplace 
and work practices where necessary prior to and as soon after as can be reasonably expected after 
induction depending on the nature of the adjustments.
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Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes

Public Sector Management Act Section 31(1):

1.	 In the administration of the Mid West Development Commission, I have complied with the Public 
Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of 
Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

2.	 I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and also conducted appropriate 
internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made in 1 is correct.

3.	 The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for the 
reporting period are:

	 Number lodged:	 Nil

	 Number of breaches found, including details  
	 of multiple breaches per application:	 Nil

	 Number still under review:	 Nil

	 Gavin Treasure

	 Chief Executive Officer

	 18 September 2019

Recordkeeping plans

As required by the State Records Act 2000, the Commission has an approved Records Keeping Plan (RKP).

Periodical record keeping training programs through the Commission’s formal monthly staff meetings, as well 
as an induction program for new employees address the roles of staff and their responsibilities in regard to 
compliance with the Commission’s RKP.

The Records Team within the Commission review the efficiency and effectiveness of its record keeping training 
program regularly, to ensure that key record systems objectives and record keeping practices are being met.  
A Commission Record Keeping Manual is in place to assist the Records Team to formalise and structure the 
training program for staff.



MWDC Annual Report 2018-1986
GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS

Substantive equality

As outlined in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-23: Implementation of the Policy Framework for 
Substantive Equality, this reporting requirement only applies to participating agencies.  The Commission is not 
a participant and this requirement, therefore, does not apply.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management

Following the creation of the new DPIRD, the Commission relocated to the former Department of Agriculture 
and Food WA offices in May 2018.  Through representation on DPIRD’s Regional Workplace Occupational 
Safety and Health (OSH) Committee, MWDC strives to ensure a safe working environment.  OSH issues 
(incidents, risks and hazards) that cannot be resolved by staff in the first instance are reported to a manager 
or supervisor, and if necessary progressed through the ‘resolution of issues’ process (as per policy).  
OSH policies are continually reviewed and monitored as required by changing needs and working environment.

Staff are made aware of OSH policies and procedures at induction and there are continuing awareness 
sessions during monthly meetings as necessary.

The Mid West Development Commission is compliant with the injury management requirements of the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.

The Commission’s annual performance report for 2018-19 against the following indicators: 

Indicator Target 2017-18 Actual 2017-18

Number of fatalities Zero (0) Zero (0)

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) incidence rate Zero (0) Zero (0)

Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0) Zero (0)

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

(i) within 13 weeks

(ii) within 26 weeks

0%

0%

0%

0%

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, health 
and injury management responsibilities ≥80% 0%

Government Building Training Policy

As outlined in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2015-02: Government Building Training Policy this 
reporting requirement only applies to State Government building, construction and maintenance contracts 
that have a labour component of $2 million and over.  The Commission did not issue contracts in scope of the 
policy and is therefore not required to report against the policy.
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Yellow Tail Kingfish (credit: Indian Ocean Fresh Australia)
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MID WEST DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION

20 Gregory Street / PO Box 110   

GERALDTON  WA  6531 

Phone: +61 (08) 9956 8555  /  Fax: +61 (08) 9921 8016 

Email: info@mwdc.wa.gov.au 

Web: www.mwdc.wa.gov.au

Correspondence should be directed to:

Chief Executive Officer 

Mid West Development Commission 

PO Box 110 

GERALDTON  WA  6531
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